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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

PATRICIA S. MIMBS, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant

                                                   v. 

LAIDLAW TRANSIT, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

INSURANCE CO OF STATE PA,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No. 199722356
        AWCB Decision No.00-0132  

         Filed in Anchorage, Alaska

         July 6, 2000.


We heard the employee’s claim and Robert Gieringer, M.D.’s claim for medical costs at Anchorage, Alaska on May 23, 2000.  Attorney Robert Rehbock represented the employee, and Attorney Robert Stone represented the employer.  We held the record open to receive additional briefing from the parties on the compensation rate issue.  We closed the record on June 6, 2000, when we first met after the briefs were filed.


ISSUES

1.
Was the November 2, 1999 shoulder surgery work related?

2. Was the November 2, 1999 shoulder surgery reasonable and necessary?

3. Is the employee entitled to a penalty on late-paid permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits?

4. Is the employee entitled to an additional 7% in PPI benefits?

5. Is the employee entitled to a compensation rate adjustment?

6. Is the employee entitled to a penalty on late-paid benefits?

7. Is the employee entitled to interest?

8. Is Dr. Gieringer entitled to interest on late-paid medical benefits?

9. Is the employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

On October 17, 1997, the employee filed a report of injury stating she injured her shoulder and arm on October 15, 1997, while driving a school bus.
  At the hearing, the employee testified a student pushed her right arm back and overextended it, when she placed her arm across the aisle.  The employer accepted compensability of the employee’s claim, paying her temporary total disability (TTD) benefits at a rate of $154.00 per week.  The employee’s compensation rate was based on the formula for a temporary or seasonal employee under AS 23.30.220(a)(6).


The employee testified her right shoulder started to hurt immediately after the incident on the bus, but she did not think it was serious, until she continued driving, and it began to hurt more.
  That same day, she went to Alaska Regional Hospital, where she was diagnosed with a right shoulder and right elbow strain.  She complained of radiating pain from the right side of her neck into her shoulder and down her arm, and she denied prior injuries to her arm.  X-rays were normal, and the employee was provided a sling.


The employee began treatment with Darren Lewis, M.D.  Dr. Lewis determined the employee may have “some brachial plexus, causing some numbness and weakness,” and he prescribed physical therapy and Vicodin for pain.  The employee returned to Dr. Lewis after approximately 3-4 physical therapy sessions, and he noted the employee’s trapezius pain was about 40% improved.
  The employee continued with physical therapy until November 26, 1997.  A note from Chugach Physical Therapy dated December 22, 1997 stated, “Patient has not returned to PT; I have left f/u message with no response.”  At the hearing, the employee admitted her attendance at physical therapy sessions was poor, though she testified she did do home exercises.  The employee testified physical therapy didn’t help either her range of motion or her pain.


By December 2, 1997, the employee’s shoulder had not improved greatly, so Dr. Lewis referred her to orthopedic surgeon Robert Gieringer, M.D.  Dr. Gieringer first saw the employee on December 29, 1997 and took a right shoulder x-ray, which was unremarkable.  The x-ray also revealed a type II acromion.  During her initial examination with Dr. Gieringer, the employee complained of night pain, numbness and tingling, popping and clicking, and grinding.  After examining the employee, Dr. Gieringer diagnosed “right shoulder strain, probable occult instability.”  Dr. Gieringer gave the employee therabands with which to perform home exercises, but he informed the employee she may need surgery.  By January 28, 1998, the employee was still having difficulty with her shoulder, and she had been doing light-duty clerical work.  In his report, Dr. Gieringer noted:

I still suspect that she has instability as a result of her injury.  It could be that she has a rotator cuff tear, as evidenced by the subacromial crepitance but I suspect that may be secondary to the instability.  Also, she has good strength, so the exam for a rotator cuff is mixed.


Thereafter, the employee resumed physical therapy at Chugach Physical Therapy, though she began to complain of pain associated with therapy and requested an MRI.  Dr. Gieringer recommended the employee continue with physical therapy.
  An MRI was performed on February 26, 1998 and was within normal limits.  Again, it showed a type II acromion without evidence of impingement or tear.  In his March 6, 1998 chart note, Dr. Gieringer stated he was not surprised the MRI was normal, given his opinion that any impingement is secondary to instability.  He recommended going forward with an electrothermal capsulorrhaphy, and the employee scheduled surgery.  Before surgery, on March 30, 1998, the employee went to the emergency room at Alaska Regional Hospital for right shoulder pain and back spasms.  The emergency room notes stated the employee complained of pain and spasms in her right upper back after “doing lots of lifting and carrying at home...”  


During a preoperative examination on April 6, 1998, Dr. Gieringer noted:

...She has tenderness over the top of her shoulder, she said somebody smacked her recently.  She hasn’t had acromioclavicular joint tenderness before this but today she certainly had it.  Basically I am planning to do an arthroscopic capsulorrhaphy tomorrow and I expect that is all she is going to need, but this acromioclavicular joint tenderness today is a new finding.


At the hearing, the employee testified no one “smacked” her shoulder.  According to the employee, a co-worker grabbed her shoulder in greeting.  She further testified she did not consider this a further injury and did not report it as such, though she did tell people at work about the incident.  Moreover, Dr. Gieringer testified he did not think this incident represented a significant trauma, and there was no visible bruising from it.
  At the hearing, the employee testified she experienced pain on the top of her shoulder prior to this incident, but the pain around the side of her shoulder and her back was more severe.  The employee testified she reported the pain on the top of her shoulder to her doctors.  She could not explain why it would not be in the medical records prior to April of 1998, other than she was feeling greater pain in other areas of her shoulder during that time period.


The employee underwent the arthroscopic capsulorraphy on April 7, 1998.  The operative note stated a partial thickness rotator cuff tear was found and debrided, and a capsulorrhaphy was performed.  According to the operative note, Dr. Gieringer also examined the subacromial space and the subclavicular area for acromioclavicular (AC) arthritis.  He found “a good acromioclavicular fat pad and not any real evidence of it so we did not operate.”  Dr. Gieringer described this surgery as tightening the glenohumeral joint.
  He further testified he only examined the AC joint from the outside.  He stated to completely examine the AC joint would cause injury to it.


In terms of the first surgery, Dr. Gieringer testified as follows:

Q. The first surgery that Ms. Mimbs underwent, can you explain to me what type of causes ususally -- what type of activities usually occur that cause a need for that type of surgery?

A. Yes, I can. It’s usually a stretch, a pull, or a jerk...Well, the very mechanism that – that Ms. Mimbs experienced, which was that her arm was jerked back behind her or levered back behind her by a over 200 pound student... 


Ten days after surgery, the employee contacted Dr. Gieringer after she reached out her right arm while lying in bed and experienced a loud, painful “pop.”
  On May 1, 1998, Dr. Gieringer examined the employee, who continued to complain of pain.  He noted tenderness in the AC joint and explained that the AC joint may account for her continued problems, and she may need further surgery.  In the mean time, he referred her for physical therapy.  The medical records reflected the employee attended approximately four of these physical therapy sessions.  While the physical therapy plan called for attendance three times per week, physical therapy notes stated she was not very regular and only attended once a week.
  On June 1, 1998, the employee reported her shoulder was 50% better since the surgery, though she was still tender at the AC joint.


Though Dr. Gieringer once again prescribed physical therapy and work hardening, his August 12, 1998 note reported she had not been to physical therapy and had only been doing her home exercise program.  In addition, he noted the employee had been back to the emergency room the prior week for muscle spasms in the neck, back, shoulder, and into her hand.  On August 19, 1998, Dr. Gieringer repeated a shoulder MRI study, which was normal, though she was still tender at the AC joint during an examination on August 28, 1998.


On August 21, 1998, James Dineen, M.D., examined the employee at the employer’s request.  Dr. Dineen determined she was objectively medically stable, though there would likely be some improvement in pain symptoms.  When asked about future treatment recommended, he replied there is no evidence of any curative treatment available.  In addition, Dr. Dineen assigned a 7% whole person PPI rating per AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fourth Edition (AMA Guides).  The employer then controverted right shoulder treatment beyond August 21, 1998 on the basis Dr. Dineen determined the employee was medically stable and not in need of further treatment.  On September 9, 1998, the employee filed a workers’ compensation claim for benefits, including temporary total disability (TTD) benefits, PPI benefits and medical costs.


The employee requested reemployment benefits on August 31, 1998.  On September 1, 1998, the employee began receiving PPI benefits on a bi-weekly basis.  On January 25, 1999, Reemployment Benefits Adminstrator Designee, Mickey Andrews, determined the employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits.  On February 9, 1999, the employer paid the employee the remaining PPI benefits in lump sum.


In September of 1998, Dr. Gieringer referred the employee to Edward Tang, M.D., for pain relief.  Dr. Tang diagnosed shoulder pain and possible cervical facet syndrome and determined the employee might benefit from cervical facet joint injection, which the employee underwent on September 22, 1998.  According to the procedure report, the injections produced a great deal of muscle spasms and soreness where the needles were inserted.  Three weeks after the procedure, Dr. Tang determined it did not give her good relief.


The employee returned to Dr. Gieringer on December 4, 1998 and complained that her neck pain was getting worse.  Upon examination, he noted her AC joint was “quite tender.”  Dr. Gieringer decided to inject her AC joint and, after doing so, noticed great improvement in shoulder pain and range of motion.
  He then suspected the AC joint was involved and recommended an AC joint arthroplasty.  Dr. Gieringer testified it is possible the AC joint problem was not apparent during the first surgery, then became apparent after other problems were addressed.
  The employee testified she was not concerned that her doctor recommended surgery despite a lack of MRI findings, since no rotator cuff tear showed up on any MRI.
  After the AC joint injection, the employee reported good pain relief for a couple of weeks, but then the pain returned.  Thereafter, the employee contacted Dr. Gieringer to determine if surgery had been authorized.  Dr. Gieringer noted the employee was “basically on hold” until such authorization.  On May 7, 1999, the employee requested another cortisone shot for shoulder pain she experienced after a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) by Douglas Smith, M.D.  


Nearly four months after Dr. Smith’s examination, he issued a report dated September 23, 1999.  Dr. Smith was awaiting x-ray films to review and eventually took new x-rays before issuing his report.  Dr. Smith’s diagnostic impression was as follows: “Status post arthroscopic capsulorrhaphy and debridement of partial thickness rotator cuff tear; History of temporary pain relief with acromioclavicular joint injection.”  When asked whether the recommended surgery on the right shoulder AC joint is reasonable and appropriate medical treatment for the employee’s work injury, Dr. Smith responded:

When I first reviewed the earlier films of the right shoulder of Mimbs, it was suggested that there might be acromioclavicular joint involvement radiographically that would go along with acromiolclavicular  joint injury and/or arthritis.

My most recent films that were done in the office in September of 1999 do not substantiate this, in my opinion.  Both the right and left joints seem similar.  I do not find hypertrophic changes, even though at this point we are now nearly two years after the industrial exposure.  If there were significant AC damage, I would think there would be a good probability that some abnormality would show up on the x-ray at this time.

Furthermore, in reading Dr. Gieringer’s operative report, it indicates that he was suspicious of an AC problem but when he looked at that area through the arthroscope from the underneath side, he did not see any evidence of pathology and consequently did not do any surgery relative to the AC joint in April of 1998.

All of this would them make me uneasy in assigning pathology and symptomatology to the AC joint with or without reference to the industrial exposure in October of 1997.

***

At any rate, I do not see objective reasons for feeling that surgical intervention in the vicinity of the acromioclavicular joint would predictably improve the situation of Mimbs.  This is my opinion based on the information in the records, on her physical examination, and on her imaging studies.

I also do not have specific recommendation for further treatment at this point.

I suppose it is possible for one reason or another, surgery may proceed on the AC joint of Mimbs at the hands of Gieringer.  If this indeed does happen, then further information may be garnered relative to the pathologic process and the results one way or the other of intervention.


Dr. Smith also determined the employee had been medically stable since approximately October 5, 1998, 45 days after her August 1998 evaluation.  However, he concluded medical stability could be rebutted if surgery was performed and there was significant, measurable improvement.


Thereafter, on November 2, 1999, the employee underwent a second arthroscopic capsulorrhaphy of the right shoulder and acromioclavicular arthroplasty performed by Dr. Gieringer.  In his operative note, Dr. Gieringer stated:

...On 4/7/98 I did a capsulorrhaphy with a good result initially.  I did not feel as though she has any acromioclavicular abnormality at that time so I did not treat it.  Over the ensuing year and a half she has had more and more difficulty with her acromioclavicular joint, so she comes to surgery for that now and also for examination of possible recurrent instability.

Dr. Gieringer’s post-operative diagnosis was “Recurrent instability of the right shoulder with painful AC arthritis and possible early arthritis of instability.”


At Dr. Gieringer’s deposition on April 18, 2000, he stated this second surgery was indicated due to the employee’s continued shoulder pain.  According to Dr. Gieringer, the second surgery was scheduled to address the AC joint, which was not addressed in the first surgery, and to perform a second capsulorraphy.  Dr. Gieringer testified a second capsulorraphy to tighten the shoulder is often more durable than the first.
  Regarding the second surgery, Dr. Gieringer testified as follows:

Q. ...How about the injury that she sustained that necessitated the second surgery, the AC joint? Similar mechanism of injury?

A. Well, you know, that’s peculiar.  A -- a jerking, pulling or impact injury can aggravate an arthritis in the joint.  Usually in a previously -- or a – yeah, a previously arthritic joint to some extent, but occasionally to a joint that wasn’t previously arthritic by virtue of causing a tear or a disruption of the soft tissue in the joint, such as a – like injury that happens in a knee when the cartilage is torn.  So it might require some preexisting condition, but not necessarily.  And let me say that just because a preexisting condition is there, it does not exonerate the fact that the injury caused the problem.  And that’s my opinion and I’ll substantiate it further if you think its necessary.

Q. And form some conclusions.  Could you set those out as to – as what did you find when you actually performed the surgery?

***

A. Okay. Well, I examined both shoulders with her asleep.  On the right side, I felt as though she had a little more instability, especially in an anterior or forward direction, than in the left side.

***

Q. Well, I was trying to find out if I could – well, let me restate the question.  In the second surgery, did you actually find the condition of deterioration, first of all that you’ve just described to be present?  That is, you felt the first procedure had failed, deteriorated?

A. Well, I felt that before I even did the surgery, otherwise I wouldn’t have taken – taken her to surgery.  And the findings on surgery only confirmed that fact.

***

Q. If I understand your earlier testimony, you indicated that another reason for the second surgery as that you hadn’t addressed the – one portion of the joint, if I understood, the AC?

A. The acromioclavicular joint.  And I’m not sure why that came up in the second surgery, because one would think that if that condition was present that you – that it would be operated and picked up with the first surgery.  And for whatever reason, it wasn’t.  And it was addressed with the second surgery – and the combination of the two surgeries – or the two procedures during the second surgery, seems to have brought ultimate success.


When asked at his deposition whether the second surgery was reasonable and necessary on a more probable than not basis, Dr. Gieringer responded as follows:

On a more likely than not basis, my opinion was based on the fact that I did a pre-operative exam that confirmed the looseness in her shoulder, and the mechanism of injury that she suffered was compatible with the type of injury I – I suspected that her shoulder would have.  The symptoms of which she complained were the type that fall into a category of what we call occult instability, or silent subluxations, or simply put, looseness in the shoulder.  The findings then at surgery when I examined her shoulder under anesthesia, an exam which is felt to be the gold standard for this type of problem, also confirmed that.  Then the final substantiation for my opinion, more likely than not, is that the surgery itself which was to correct the problem was successful.


Moreover, while Dr. Gieringer testified both surgeries were necessitated by the work injury, he could not rule out an intervening accident sometime between the first and second surgeries.
  Dr. Gieringer testified the October 1997 work injury either resulted in or aggravated the shoulder looseness and the AC joint arthritic changes he found during the second surgery.
  Dr. Gieringer testified the work injury may have loosened up the AC joint and started the progression of degenerative arthritis in that area.
  Dr. Gieringer also testified any intervening accident would have aggravated an already present condition.
 Overall, he determined within a reasonable degree of medical certainty the medical care he provided the employee was reasonable and necessary.


Dr. Gieringer saw the employee for follow-up treatment on January 10, 2000 and noted, “it seems like we are on the right track this time.”  In his February 9, 2000 chart note, he stated, “She is three months now since I did a capsulorraphy, acromioclavicular joint arthroplasty.  She is recovering a lot.”  Dr. Gieringer found the employee’s range of motion was better and released her to light work.


In addition to post-injury medical treatment, evidence of the employee’s past medical treatment was presented.  When the employee presented to Alaska Regional Hospital on September 15, 1993 for arthroscopy of the right knee, she reported, “...she was ‘thrown about’ by her boyfriend last night – dragged across the floor on her back.  Right elbow feels ‘bruised.’  Twisted R leg.  Pressure marks on right scapula area.”  At the hearing, the employee testified she did not recall being dragged across the floor in this incident.  She recalled her boyfriend putting his hand down her throat.  The employee stated she drove a bus for two years prior to her work injury, and had no prior injuries to her back or neck or shoulders.
  


The parties also submitted annual physical examination records from the Department of Transportation (DOT).  The August 8, 1996 DOT form revealed the employee was taking Estrenol, antibiotics, and Vicodin, though not while driving.  The employee testified she may have been taking Vicodin in 1996 related to her knee problems.


During the July 15, 1997 DOT examination, the employee indicated the only medication she was taking was estrogen replacement therapy.  In both 1996 and 1997, the employee was deemed qualified to operate a bus.  At an examination on July 29, 1998, the employee indicated she had an injury to her shoulder on October 15, 1997, but she was still deemed qualified to operate a bus.  Moreover, at her most recent annual physical, the employee again noted her October 1997 shoulder injury and indicated her current medications included Soma, Vicodin and Premarin.  However, she was deemed qualified to operate a bus by Kathleen Melican.  Ms. Melican testified at her deposition on May 18, 2000.  She testified, despite a prior shoulder injury, the employee would pass the examination, if she passed the range of motion tests for the shoulder.
  Ms. Melican also testified she would not have picked up an occult injury during her examination of the employee, as it would have been hidden.


On February 5, 2000, Charles Brooks, M.D., issued a report based upon a records review at the employer’s request.  Dr. Brooks noted the employee’s past surgeries included a tonsillectomy in 1974, a laparoscopy in 1982, and a hysterectomy in 1992, as well as the procedures noted above. Furthermore, Dr. Brooks felt while the employee was clearly capable of using the emergency room on several occasions and for numerous minor illnesses since her work injury, her sporadic attendance at physical therapy is telling as far as her motivation to recover.  At the hearing, the employee testified while she had had several surgeries, she does not like surgery and does not seek it out.


Dr. Brooks also reviewed the diagnostic studies in this case and determined the employee first developed symptoms and signs related to the AC joint when “somebody smacked her” in early April 1998.  Dr. Brooks stated in his report that the partial thickness tear may have resulted from traction after the September 1993 assault, during extension of the joint on October 15, 1997, when “lifting and carrying “ at home in late March 1998, or when “smacked” in early April of 1998.  In addition, Dr. Brooks noted the cuff tear may have resulted from degeneration over a period of years, accelerated by the presence of a downward curved acromion.  As for apportioning the causes of the employee’s shoulder condition, Dr. Brooks stated in his report:

Ms. Mimbs’ condition is obviously multifactorial, being due in part to at least one congenital-developmental anomaly of her shoulder, the type II acromion, in part to several shoulder girdle injuries of varying severity, and in part due to psychosocial factors including physical abuse contributing to disproportionate pain and other somatic complaints.  It would take the wisdom of Solomon, which the reviewer does not possess, to provide a precise apportionment among the various causes.


In terms of the first procedure, Dr. Brooks stated:

Whether the April 1998 shoulder arthroscopy was necessary is also debatable...Ultimately, the reviewer cannot state with reasonable medical probability the laxity of the right shoulder was caused by the October 1997 injury, that the thermal capsulorraphy was necessary, and even if it was, necessitated by the subject occupational injury.


Moreover, Dr. Brooks went on to find:

While there is doubt about the necessity of the April 1998 shoulder surgery, and question regarding its relationship to the October 1997 injury, the reviewer can state with reasonable medical probability the November 1999 surgery was unnecessary, at least for the subject injury.  If there is arthritis or other traumatic pathology involving acromioclavicular joint, it was not caused by whatever transpired on October 15, 1997, but the assault in early April 1998, as indicated by Dr. Gieringer, who reported the tenderness of the AC joint was first noticed thereafter.  It is also doubtful whether the minimal arthritis of right AC joint warranted surgery.  While Ms. Mimbs reported symptoms relief following injection of this joint, the subjective response is not corroborated by any significant objective findings.  Dr. Gieringer’s November 1999 operative report, for instance, indicates an arthroplasty was performed, but contains no photographs of or written reference to inferiorly projecting osteophytes or other abnormality of this articulation.  Ultimately, I concur with Dr. Smith that there were not “objective reasons for...surgical intervention in the vicinity of the acromioclavicular joint.”

Dr. Brooks also stated:

Ms. Mimbs’ present status is unknown.  While she may have reported some symptomatic improvement following the second arthroscopic surgery of right shoulder, as she did after the first, the reviewer doubts her complaints have resolved...The reviewer would also be pleasantly surprised if the second shoulder operation resulted in significant functional improvement, specifically return to work as a bus driver.


At the hearing, the employee testified the second surgery improved her pain and her ability to use her right shoulder, though there are still things she cannot do.  She stated she can now vacuum and perform repetitive motions longer than before the second surgery.  The employee testified she is probably physically addicted to Vicodin but only takes medication according to the prescribed dosages.  According to the employee, she is working with Dr. Tang to slowly reduce her Vicodin usage.


Dr. Brooks also testified telephonically at the hearing.  He stated he reviewed the medical records in this case but did not examine the employee or speak with her.  He testified it was possible the laxity in the employee right shoulder was caused by or aggravated by the October 1997 work injury, though it was not probable given the laxity in the employee’s left shoulder.  Dr. Brooks believed the employee suffered from a congenital collegen defect, resulting in shoulder laxity.  Dr. Brooks testified he did not believe the November 2, 1999 surgery was reasonable or necessary.  He stated Dr. Gieringer only found minimal arthritis in the AC joint.  


However, Dr. Brooks admitted there was an objective basis for the November 2, 1999 surgery, assuming the pre-operative finding of laxity was accurate.  He also admitted there was a subjective basis for surgery due to the employee’s complaints.  At the same time, Dr. Brooks testified even if there was looseness, surgery was not necessary without symptoms and signs of subluxation or dislocation.  According to Dr. Brooks, many people live with laxity.  On the other hand, Dr. Brooks admitted it was plausible the employee’s shoulder became loose again after the first surgery, and Dr. Gieringer did further repair the shoulder on November 2, 1999.  Dr. Brooks stated he was somewhat surprised the employee obtained a good result from the second surgery.  Further, Dr. Brooks testified within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, even if the November 2, 1999 surgery was necessary, it was due to aging or the April 1998 “smacking” incident.  Dr. Brooks also noted that all signs related to the AC joint began after April 6, 1998.


As for Dr. Gieringer’s PPI rating of 14%, Dr. Brooks testified he improperly performed the rating in that he included a 10% rating for the AC joint surgery, 3% for catching and grinding, and 10% for loss of motion.  Dr. Brooks stated it was improper to include both the 3% for catching and grinding and the 10% for the AC surgery, as this was assessing the AC joint twice or “double-dipping.”  He also stated Dr. Gieringer improperly added the above values together, rather than combined them per the combined values table.  Dr. Brooks referenced page 58 of the AMA Guides, which state, “Appropriate impairment percents are combined with other impairment percents using the Combined Values Chart.”  According to Dr. Brooks, the proper PPI rating is 11% whole person, not 14% whole person.  Dr. Brooks testified he has published articles on the AMA Guides and considers himself an expert on them. 


The employee also testified she began working for the employer in September of 1995 as a bus driver.  She stated she was employed for the school year, she was laid off at the end of the school year, and the employer would assist the drivers with unemployment paperwork.  According to the employee, she would return to work in the fall, when she would bid for a bus route again.  The employee testified drivers did have an opportunity to bid for limited summer routes, but she chose not to.


The employee indicated she had been working in a light-duty, clerical position for the employer from November of 1997 until February of 2000, when she was out of work for dental surgery. 


James Piaskowski, a safety officer for the employer and the employee’s boyfriend, also testified at the hearing.  He testified he began dating the employee in May of 1997 and did not notice the employee experiencing any right shoulder problems prior to October 15, 1997.  Moreover, he was not aware of any further injuries to the employee’s shoulder after the October 1997 incident.  He recalled the employee telling him a co-worker put his hand on her shoulder, but he did not consider this a work injury and did not report it.  Mr. Piaskowski testified he had to avoid the employee’s entire right shoulder area after the October 15, 1997 incident.  According to Mr. Piaskowski, after the second surgery, the employee’s condition appeared to gradually improve, and she has been able to do more housework.


Additionally, Jim Trombley, Driver Development Safety Supervisor for the employer, testified at the hearing.  He confirmed that bus drivers are employed for the school year and are not guaranteed work in the summer.  He stated employment as a bus driver is not intended to continue through an entire calendar year, though employees may bid for summer jobs, which are allotted by seniority.  According to Mr. Trombley, the employee was categorized as a full-time equivalent employee based upon her availability to drive routes during the school day, in the morning and afternoon.


Mr. Trombley indicated the employee was offered clerical duties as transitional work due to her workers’ compensation claim.  He noted that she was offered the opportunity to work eight hours per day at her hourly rate as a driver ($10.40), while drivers were only guaranteed five hours per day through the union contract. Mr. Trombley also testified the employee received raises while performing clerical duties, and she was earning $12.25 per hour when she was terminated.  Mr. Trombley did not know why the employee’s transitional work period went beyond ninety days per the employer’s transitional work policy because he was not the safety supervisor at that time.  According to Mr. Trombley, the employee was terminated in February of 2000, after several occasions of not showing up for work and not calling in.

Employee’s Argument

The employee argued the November 2, 1999 surgery was work-related and compensable.  The employee further argued the surgery was reasonable and necessary, as substantiated by Dr. Gieringer and the overall success of the surgery.  The employee asserted the employer cannot sufficiently overcome the presumption of compensability and cannot meet the “heavy burden” outlined in Weidner & Associates, Inc. v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 732 n. 3 (Alaska 1999). According to the employee, while Dr. Smith did not recommend surgery, he left the door open if surgery occurred.  The employee asserted the surgery did occur, and the reasonableness of the surgery was supported by the surgical findings.


In addition, the employee argued she is owed a penalty on late-paid PPI benefits paid bi-weekly until she was found not eligible for reemployment benefits.  The employee asserted because she was not in a reemployment plan when PPI benefits became due, she should have been paid in a lump sum.  


The employee also argued she is entitled to a compensation rate adjustment because her job as a bus driver for the employer was not exclusively seasonal, nor was it a temporary job.  The employee contended she had the option of bidding on summer jobs.  Therefore, she requested a compensation rate adjustment and a penalty.

Employer’s Argument

The employer argued the employee’s condition was not work-related and even if it was, the November 2, 1999 surgery was not reasonable and necessary.  The employer asserted the medical record clearly demonstrated the AC joint tenderness was a new finding in April of 1998, after the employee was “smacked” on the shoulder by a co-worker.  Moreover, Dr. Brooks determined the shoulder laxity was due to aging or the April 1998 incident. Further, the employer argued none of the physicians in this case, aside from Dr. Gieringer, found anything to warrant surgery.  The employer suggested the employee has shown a pattern of chronic pain and surgery seeking behavior.  Therefore, the employer requested we deny the compensability of the November 2, 1999 surgery.


Additionally, the employer asserted the employee’s job as a bus driver perfectly fits the definition of a seasonal job, as is it employment that is not intended to continue through the entire calendar year but resumes annually.  The employer emphasized that it assists its drivers with unemployment paperwork at the end of each school year.  Furthermore, the employer argued should we find the November 1999 surgery compensable, we should rely Dr. Brooks’ expertise on the AMA Guides and his PPI rating of 11%, and we should find Dr. Gieringer’s PPI rating of 14% was improper.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.
IS THE NOVEMBER 2, 1999 SURGERY COMPENSABLE?

A. Did the employee sustain a compensable, on the job injury related to the November 2, 1999 surgery?


In our analysis, we must first apply the statutory presumption of compensability. AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part, “In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter.”  

Applying the presumption of compensability is a three-step process. Louisianan Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379 (Alaska 1991).  In the first step, generally, “AS 23.30.120(a)(1) creates the presumption of a compensable disability once the employee has established a preliminary link between employment and injury.” Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 474 (Alaska 1991).  “[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.” Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation. Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  

The Alaska Supreme Court has held, “the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.” Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), (quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991)). A substantial aggravation of a pre-existing condition “imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.” Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590, 595 (Alaska 1979), citing to 9 A. Larson, The Law of Worker’s Compensation, §95.12 (1997).  In Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993), the Court stated:

[T]wo determinations...must be made under this rule: “(1) whether employment...aggravated, accelerated, or combined with a pre-existing condition; and, if so, (2) whether the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a ‘legal cause’ of the disability, i.e., ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the harm.” (quoting Saling, 604 P.2d at 597, 598).


An aggravation, acceleration or combination is a substantial factor in the disability if a reasonable person would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it. See, State v. Abbot, 498 P.2d 712, 727 (Alaska 1971). If the employee’s evidence establishes the preliminary link, we presume her injury is compensable, and the burden of producing contrary evidence shifts to the employer.

We find the employee testified she had no shoulder problems prior to the work injury on October 15, 1997.  We find the employee complained of significant shoulder pain after the October 15, 1997 incident and underwent shoulder surgery on April 7, 1998.  We find the employee continued to complain of pain and sought medical treatment after the April 1998 surgery.  We note the employee also testified she experienced pain on the top of her shoulder prior to the incident in which a co-worker “grabbed” or “smacked” her shoulder.  Regarding the April 6, 1998 incident, the employee testified this was not a significant injury.  We find Dr. Gieringer also testified he did not consider this incident significant.  

We further find Dr. Gieringer testified both the first and second surgeries were necessitated by the work injury.  Dr. Gieringer testified the second surgery was performed not only to address the AC joint, but also to proceed with a second capsulorraphy.  Dr. Gieringer testified a second capsulorraphy to tighten the shoulder is often more durable than the first.  Dr. Gieringer testified the very mechanism of the injury the employee described as occurring on October 15, 1997 injury necessitated a capsulorraphy.  Dr. Gieringer further testified a jerking or pulling injury could aggravate arthritis in the AC joint. Therefore, we conclude the presumption of compensability attaches to the employee’s claim, and the burden of production shifts to the employer.


In the second step, we must determine whether the employer has met its burden of producing contrary evidence. Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).  To rebut the presumption, the employer must produce “substantial evidence” that either (1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability. Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991). “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044 (quoting Thornton v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation. Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer at 869.  If the employer produces substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability, the presumption drops out, and we move to the third step. Id. at 870.


We find the employer did not present substantial evidence to overcome the presumption of compensability.  Dr. Brooks testified any arthritis or pathology related to the AC joint was not caused by the October 15, 1997 incident, but the “assault” in early April of 1998.   However, it is unclear whether the employer can completely rebut the presumption of the work-relatedness of the November 2, 1999 surgery, as part of the second surgery included a second capsulorraphy, as well as the arthroscopy of the AC joint.  Dr. Brooks testified the looseness or laxity in the employee’s shoulder likely resulted from a congenital collegen problem, however we find he could not rule out the October 1997 work injury as a causal factor.  Dr. Brooks testified the employee’s condition was multifactorial, and it would take the “wisdom of Solomon” to precisely apportion all of the causes.  Therefore, we conclude the employer cannot completely rebut the compensability as to the work-relatedness of the November 2, 1999 surgery.  However, even assuming the employer can rebut the presumption of compensability, we find, by a preponderance of the evidence, the employee’s shoulder condition and need for the November 2, 1999 surgery resulted from the October 15, 1997 work injury.


In the third step, the employee bears the burden of proving all the elements of the claim by a preponderance of the evidence. Id.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief in the mind of the triers of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.” Saxton v. Harris 395 P.2d 71, 72. (Alaska 1964).  A longstanding principle in Alaska workers’ compensation law is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee’s favor. Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1190 (Alaska 1984); Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., 617 P.2d 755, 758 (Alaska 1978).


We have weighed the evidence presented in the medical records, as well as all of the testamentary evidence presented in this case.  We are persuaded the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee’s work injury caused or aggravated her shoulder condition and necessitated the November 2, 1999 surgery.  We again note the employee’s testimony that she had no shoulder problems prior to October 15, 1997, and she felt pain on the top of her right shoulder prior to the April 1998 incident with her co-worker.  In addition, we find the employee’s and Mr. Piaskowski’s failure to report the 1998 “grabbing” or “smacking” incident further evidence it was not a significant injury.  Furthermore, Dr. Gieringer testified a jerking, pulling or impact injury can aggravate arthritis in the AC joint, thus linking the employee’s complaints of AC joint tenderness and the AC joint arthritic findings at the November 1999 surgery. 


In addition, we find ample evidence that the capsulorraphy portion of the November 1999 surgery was related to the work injury.  Dr. Gieringer testified the very mechanism of the October 1997 injury described by the employee would require a capulorraphy.  Finally, we note Dr. Gieringer’s clear statement that both the first and second surgeries were necessitated by the October 15, 1997 work injury.  Consequently, we find the preponderance of the evidence supports the finding that the October 15, 1997 work injury was a causal factor in the employee’s shoulder condition and the need for the November 2, 1999 surgery.

B.
Was the employee’s second shoulder surgery reasonable and necessary?

In addition to arguing the employee’s condition and need for the November 2, 1999 surgery was not work-related, the employer argued the November 2, 1999 surgery was not reasonable and necessary.  AS 23.30.095(a) provides in pertinent part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment,...for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.


In Weidner & Associates, Inc. v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 732 n. 3 (Alaska 1999), the  Alaska Supreme Court held that

a claim for medical treatment is to be reviewed according to the date the treatment was sought and the claim was filed with the Board.  Because Hibdon’s claim was filed within two years of the date of injury, we must determine whether the treatment sought was reasonable and necessary.  


We find the employee filed a claim for medical treatment on September 8, 1998.  We further find Dr. Gieringer filed his own claim on July 21, 1999.  We further find, per the medical records, Dr. Gieringer recommended and the employee sought the November 1999 surgery by December of 1998.  We therefore find the employee filed a claim and sought the second surgery well within two years of the date of injury.  Consequently, we find we must determine whether the treatment the employee sought was reasonable and necessary.  The Hibdon Court, in determining Hibdon proved her claim for medical treatment by a preponderance of the evidence, found:

...where a claimant presents credible, competent evidence from his or her treating physician that the treatment undergone or sought is reasonably effective and necessary for the process of recovery, and the evidence is corroborated by other medical experts, and the treatment falls within the realm of medically accepted options, it is generally considered reasonable.  If the employee makes this showing, the employer is faced with a heavy burden -- the employer must demonstrate to the Board that the treatment is neither reasonable and necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical options under the particular facts.  It is not the Board’s function to choose between reasonable, yet competing, medically acceptable treatments.  Rather, the Board must determine whether the actual treatment sought by the injured employee is reasonable. (emphasis added).


In Hibdon, 989 P.2d at 731, the Alaska Supreme Court made clear that:

...when the Board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is undisputedly work-related, its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.

Id. at 731.


The Hibdon Court went on to say the “Choices between reasonable medical options and the risks entailed should be left to the patient and his or her physician.” Id. at 733 (citation omitted).  The Court noted its disapproval of the Board’s decision denying the employee’s request for surgery as recommended by her treating physician stating, “the Board exceeded its authority when it overrode the consensus reached between Hibdon and her doctors about what treatment was appropriate.” Id. at 732.

We have already determined the employee’s injury was work-related.  We find this case is similar to the facts in Hibdon in that the employee presented credible evidence from her treating physician that the November 2, 1999 was reasonably effective and necessary for the process of recovery.  We note Dr. Gieringer’s consistent testimony that the November 1999 surgery was reasonable and necessary based on his pre-operative exam that confirmed the looseness in the employee’s shoulder, the employee’s symptoms of occult instability, and the success of the second surgery.  We note the second surgery was performed not only to address the AC joint, but also to proceed with a second capsulorraphy.  Dr. Gieringer testified a second capsulorraphy to tighten the shoulder is often more durable than the first.  In addition, Dr. Gieringer proceeded with AC joint arthroplasty on the basis the employee reported improvement in pain and demonstrated increased range of motion after a cortisone injection in the AC joint.  Further, the employee testified the November 1999 surgery improved her condition.


Moreover, Dr. Smith corroborated the diagnosis of chronic right shoulder pain in his SIME, and he stated, “I suppose it is possible for one reason or another, surgery may proceed on the AC joint...”  Dr. Smith also concluded his previous finding of medical stability could be rebutted if surgery was performed and if there was significant, measurable improvement.  We further find Dr. Tang confirmed the employee’s continued complaints of shoulder pain.  While Dr. Smith and Dr. Dineen stated they would not opt for surgery, no physician testified the surgery was outside the realm of medically accepted options.  Moreover, Dr. Brooks admitted that there were objective and subjective bases for the second surgery, and that Dr. Gieringer did further repair the shoulder in his November 1999 surgery.

In short, we find the employee has met the requirements outlined in Hibdon to show the November 2, 1999 surgery was reasonable and necessary, thus placing a heavy burden on the employer to demonstrate the surgery was neither reasonable and necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical options.  As noted above, we find the employer failed to present substantial evidence the surgery was outside the realm of acceptable medical options.  Therefore, we determine the employer has not rebutted the presumption of the reasonableness and necessity of the surgery.  Following Hibdon, we find no reason to second guess the consensus reached between the employee and her treating physician regarding her treatment options.  


We note that even if the employer did rebut the presumption, we find the employee has proven her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.


Additionally, we find even if this case does not meet the Hibdon facts to trigger the heavy burden on the employer, a strict presumption analysis still favors the employee.  In our analysis, we must first apply the statutory presumption of compensability. AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part, “In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter.”  The Alaska Supreme Court has held, “the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.” Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), (quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991)).   Therefore, we find the presumption of compensability applies to the employee’s claim for benefits related to the November 2, 1999 surgery.

We find the employee testified the November 2, 1999 surgery improved her pain and her ability to use her right shoulder.  We note Dr. Gieringer’s consistent testimony that the second surgery was reasonable and necessary based on his pre-operative exam that confirmed the looseness in the employee’s shoulder, the employee’s symptoms of occult instability, and the success of the second surgery.  We note the second surgery was performed not only to address the AC joint, but also to proceed with a second capsulorraphy.  Dr. Gieringer testified a second capsulorraphy to tighten the shoulder is often more durable than the first.  Therefore, we conclude the presumption of compensability attaches to the employee’s claim, and the burden of production shifts to the employer.


We find the employer presented substantial evidence to overcome the presumption of compensability.  We note Dr. Brooks’ testimony that the November 1999 surgery was not reasonable and necessary.  Dr. Brooks testified even if the laxity in the employee’s shoulder was related to the October 1997 injury, the surgery was not necessary, as many people live with shoulder looseness.  Dr. Brooks emphasized a lack of medical evidence of subluxation or dislocation to warrant surgery.


However, we are persuaded the preponderance of the evidence demonstrates the November 1999 surgery was reasonable and necessary.  Dr. Gieringer performed the surgery to repair the laxity and looseness in the employee’s shoulder. While Dr. Brooks opined many people live with laxity without surgery, we find the employee apparently could not, due to her continued complaints of shoulder pain and need for pain medication.  We further find Dr. Gieringer properly and reasonably investigated the AC joint in November 1999 surgery after several months of AC joint tenderness and pain relief with a cortisone injection into the AC joint.  We note Dr. Gieringer’s testimony that the two surgeries or the two procedures in the second surgery “seems to have brought ultimate success,” and we find the employee’s testimony corroborates this.  


As a result, we find all benefits related to the November 2, 1999 surgery are compensable.  We note the right of a physician to recover fees in a compensable workers’ compensation case are derivative of the employee’s claim against the employer. Sutch v. Showboat, AWCB Decision No.  99-0249 (December 8, 1999).  We have previously recognized the right of medical providers to file claims for unpaid fees. Robles v. Matthisen, AWCB Decision No. 99-0260 (December 28, 1999); Bailie v. Financial Collection Agency, AWCB Decision No. 91-0089 (April 5, 1991).  Failure to recognize such a claim “would allow an employer who has acted in direct contravention of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act to escape liability for reasonable and necessary medical benefits provided to the injured employee.” Bailie, at 3.


As for time-loss benefits, we note the parties stipulated at the hearing no time-loss benefits were due after the employee was terminated from her light-duty job in February 2000, and no time-loss benefits were due prior to the November 2, 1999 surgery.  We further note Dr. Gieringer’s chart note that he released the employee to light-duty work on February 9, 2000.  Dr. Gieringer testified at his deposition that he would have released her for light-duty work approximately ten days after the November 2, 1999 surgery.  Despite this testimony, he did not, in fact, release her to light-duty work until February 9, 2000.  Therefore, we find TTD benefits are due to the employee from November 2, 1999 until February 9, 2000. 

II. IS THE EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO A PENALTY ON LATE-PAID PPI BENEFITS?


AS 23.30.190(a) provides, in part:

In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $135,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.  The percentage of impairment to the whole person is the percentage of impairment to the particular body part, system, or function converted to the percentage of impairment to the whole person as provided under (b) of this section.  The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041, but the compensation may not be discounted for any present value considerations. (Emphasis added).

AS 23.30.041(k) provides, in part:

Benefits related to the reemployment plan may not extend past two years from the date of plan approval or acceptance, whichever date occurs first, at which time the benefits expire.  If an employee reaches medical stability before completion of the plan, temporary total disability benefits shall cease and permanent impairment benefits shall then be paid at the employee’s temporary total disability rate.  If the employee’s permanent impairment benefits are exhausted before the completion or termination of the reemployment plan, the employer shall provide wages equal to 60 before completion of the plan, temporary total disability benefits shall cease and permanent impairment benefits shall then be paid at the employee’s temporary total disability rate.  If the employee’s permanent impairment benefits are exhausted before the completion or termination of the reemployment plan, the employer shall provide wages equal to 60 percent of the employee’s spendable weekly wage but not to exceed $525, until the completion or termination of the plan.  A permanent impairment benefit remaining unpaid upon the completion or termination of the plan shall be paid to the employee in a single lump sum...


The employee argues the provision for bi-weekly PPI benefits is only in connection with a reemployment plan.  Since the employee was not in a plan when the PPI benefits became due, her PPI benefits should have been paid in a lump sum, not bi-weekly.  However, we interpret AS 23.30.190 and AS 23.30.041 to mean PPI benefits are to be paid on a bi-weekly basis, when the employee is in the reemployment process, not just a reemployment plan.    We conclude to allow insurers to pay out PPI benefits on a bi-weekly basis during the reemployment plan, but not earlier in the reemployment process, would frustrate the intent of the statute.  


We find the employee had already requested reemployment benefits when PPI benefits became due, and the employer properly began paying those benefits on a bi-weekly basis.  We further note the employer paid the remaining PPI benefits in a lump sum on February 9, 2000, after the employee was found ineligible for reemployment benefits on January 25, 2000.  Therefore, we find no penalty should be assessed for late-paid PPI benefits under AS 23.30.155(e).

III. IS THE EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO AN ADDITIONAL 7% IN PPI BENEFITS?


According to the AMA Guides, page 58, Section 3.1m Impairments Due to Other Disorders of the Upper Extremity:

...The impairments are evaluated separately; appropriate impairment percents from Table 19 through 30 are multiplied by percents from Table 18 (at right) representing the impaired parts.  Appropriate impairments percents are combined with other impairment percents using the Combined Values Chart.


We find this section of the Guides supports Dr. Brooks’ assertion that Dr. Gieringer improperly added impairment values rather than combined them.  We further note we find Dr. Brooks is an expert in the area of the AMA Guides, and we therefore place greater weight on his testimony concerning this issue.  As such, we also agree with Dr. Brooks’s determination that Dr. Gieringer improperly assessed the AC joint twice, once by assessing a 10% rating for the AC joint surgery and a second time for assessing a 3% impairment for catching and grinding.  Therefore, we find the employee’s PPI rating is 11%, as assessed by Dr. Gieringer and recalculated by Dr. Brooks.  We find the employee is owed an additional 4% in PPI benefits, as 7% has already been paid.

IV. IS THE EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO A COMPENSATION RATE ADJUSTMENT?

AS 23.30.220(a)(6) provides:

If at the time of injury the employment is exclusively seasonal or temporary, then, notwithstanding (1) – (5) of this subsection, the gross weekly earnings are 1/50th of the total wages that the employee has earned from all occupations during the calendar year immediately preceding the injury.

AS 23.30.220(c) provides the following definitions for temporary and seasonal employees:

(1) “seasonal work” means employment that is not intended to continue through an entire calendar year, but recurs on an annual basis.

(2) “temporary work” means employment that is not permanent, ends upon completion of the task, job, or contract, and ends within six months from the date of injury.


We find the employee testified she was hired to drive a bus for the school year and was laid off at the end of the school year.  We find Jim Trombley testified the employee’s employment was not intended to continue through an entire calendar year, though it would recur on an annual basis.  We also note the employee’s and Mr. Trombley’s testimony that the employer would assist the bus drivers with unemployment paperwork at the end of the school year.  We find the employee’s job, as she described it, meets the definition of seasonal work, as it is described in the statute.  We find the opportunity for some drivers to bid for summer routes and obtain them based upon seniority is insufficient to take the job out of the “seasonal work” category under AS 23.30.220(c)(1).  We further note the employee testified she never opted to bid for summer routes.


Additionally, we find the application of a fairness standard, set forth in Gilmore v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 882 P.2d 922 (Alaska 1994), yields the same result.  We find the employer provided the employee with light-duty, clerical work for over two years after the work injury on October 15, 1997.  We find the employee was paid her hourly wage as a driver during this time period, including raises.  Per the testimony of Jim Trombley, we find the employer provided over two years of transitional work long after its 90-day policy.  Consequently, we find no evidence to warrant a deviation from the statutory formula of a seasonal employee.  


We note the cases cited by the employee in support of her request for a compensation rate adjustment are distinguishable from the instant case.  In Katchur v. Statewide et. al., AWCB Decision No. 99-0225 (November 5, 1999), the board made the specific finding that the employer hired the employee to work year round.  We made no such finding in this case.  Moreover, in Williams v. Polar Mining, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 99-0090 (April 21, 1999), the board determined the employee’s work was not “exclusively seasonal.” We made no such finding in this case.  Finally, in Thompson v. United Parcel Service, 975 P.2d 684 (Alaska 1999), the Alaska Supreme Court found the employer was “required to present substantial evidence that claimant’s past wages were inaccurate predictor of losses from her injury in order to justify deviation from statutory formula...”  In this case, the employer wants to apply the statutory formula, not deviate from it. Therefore, the employee’s request for a compensation rate adjustment is denied and dismissed.

V. PENALTIES AND INTEREST

The employee has requested penalties and interest on all benefits not paid timely.  AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(d)...If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of  controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due...

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section...


The record reflects the employer controverted right shoulder treatment beyond August 21, 1998 on August 26, 1998.  However, in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992), the Alaska Supreme Court held:

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty...For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.


We find the August 26, 1998 controversion notice was based on Dr. Dineen’s opinion that the employee was medically stable, and there was no need for further treatment.  We find the controversion is not sufficient to rebut the presumption of the reasonableness and necessity of medical treatment by the employee’s physician within two years of the injury per Hibdon. See, Johnson v. Graybar Electric Co., AWCB Decision No. 00-0118.  However, as in the Johnson case, we find the Hibdon case was issued after the employer filed the controversion in this case.  Because the caselaw prior to Hibdon did not explicitly limit review to reasonable and necessary treatment, we find the employer had sufficient evidence at that time to controvert further treatment.  We therefore find the controversion was filed in good faith and no penalties are due.  The employee’s claim for penalties is denied and dismissed.

VI.
INTEREST


Our regulation 8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate of 10.5% per annum, as provided at AS 45.45.010, from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due. See also, Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992); Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).


8 AAC 45.142, governing the payment of interest states, in part:


(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.


(b) The employer shall pay the interest ... (3) on late‑paid medical benefits to (A) the employee ..., if the employee has paid the provider or medical benefits; ...(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.


We find Dr. Gieringer has provided treatment to the employee and has not been paid.  Accordingly, we award Dr. Gieringer interest to account for the time value of the services he provided to the employee, but for which he was not timely paid.  Interest is to be paid to Dr. Gieringer from the date his bills were due and payable.


Furthermore, we find the employee is due interest pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142 on late-paid TTD benefits from November 2, 1999 until February 9, 2000, as outlined in Section I of this decision and order.

VII.
ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS


We next consider the employee’s request for attorney’s fees and costs.  AS 23.30.145 provides in part:

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for his costs in the proceedings, including a reasonably attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.


Subsection 145(b) requires that the attorney’s fees awarded be reasonable.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires that a fee awarded under subsection 145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that we consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.


We have reviewed the employee’s counsel’s supplemental amended attorney fee affidavit filed on June 6, 2000.  We find the hourly rates and the time spent reasonable commensurate with the work performed.  We also considered the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.  We note,  the employee was successful on her central claim for medical costs and time loss benefits related to the November 1999 surgery, thus a majority of the requested attorney’s fees are compensable.  However, the employee was not successful in her request for a penalty on late-paid PPI benefits and a compensation rate adjustment.  We therefore instruct to parties to endeavor to negotiate reasonable attorney’s fees and costs in keeping with the above.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes that arise, should the parties be unable to negotiate reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.


ORDER

1. The November 2, 1999 surgery was work-related, reasonable and necessary.  The employer shall pay Dr. Gieringer’s outstanding medical bills related to that surgery.  The employer shall also pay Dr. Gieringer interest related to those medical bills from the date his bills were due and payable.

2. The employer shall pay the employee TTD benefits from November 2, 1999 to February 9, 2000.  The employer shall also pay the employee interest on late-paid TTD benefits from November 2, 1999 until February 9, 2000.

3. The employee’s claim for a penalty on late-paid PPI benefits is denied and dismissed.

4. The employer shall pay the employee an additional 4% in PPI benefits, consistent with Dr. Gieringer’s assessment and Dr. Brooks’ recalculation.

5. The employee’s request for a compensation rate adjustment is denied and dismissed.

6. The employee’s claim for penalties on late-paid TTD and medical benefits is denied and dismissed.

7. The employee is awarded attorney’s fees and costs in accordance with the above. We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes, should the parties be unable to negotiate reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 6th day of July, 2000.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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� See, Report of Injury dated 10/17/97.


� Deposition of the employee on 3/8/99 at pages 24-27.


� Alaska Regional Hospital Emergency Room records dated 10/15/97.


� Dr. Lewis’ chart notes dated 10/21/97 and 11/4/97.


� Employee’s deposition at page 32.


� See, Dr. Gieringer’s chart notes dated 2/9/98, 2/18/98 and 2/25/98.


� Dr. Gieringer’s 5/22/22 deposition at page 21.


� Dr. Gieringer’s deposition on 4/18/00 at page 19.


� Deposition of Dr/. Gieringer on 5/22/00 at pages 12 & 13.


� Dr. Gieringer’s chart note dated 4/17/98.


� See, Chugach Physical Therapy fax dated 6/1/98.


� Dr. Gieringer also filed a separate claim for payment of medical bills on July 21, 1999.  The 2/15/00 prehearing summary reflects his claim was amended to include $6,188.00 in medical costs.


� See, Compensation Report dated  6/14/99.


� Dr. Tang’s progress note dated 10/14/98.


� Dr. Gieringer’s 5/22/00 deposition at page 20.


� Dr. Gieringer’s 4/18/00 deposition at page 21.


� Employee’s deposition at page 64.


� 4/18/00 Deposition of Dr. Gieringer at pages 6 & 7.


� Id. at page 23.


� Id. at pages 6-9.


� Id. at page 10.


� Id. at page 32.


� Dr. Gieringer’s 5/22/00 deposition at pages 10 & 17.


� Id. at page 24.


� Dr. Gieringer’s 5/22/00 deposition at page 27.


� Dr. Gieringer’s 4/18/00 deposition at page 31.


� Deposition of the employee on 3/8/99 at pages 14 & 15.


� Deposition of Kathleen Melican at page 21.


� Id. at page 31.
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